1988

H. LeRoy Cobabe, Lewis R. Canfield, and St.
George Toyota v. B. Glen Crawford, Paula
Crawford, and Crawford Investment Company :
Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF UTAH COURT OF APPEALS
PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This appeal is from an order of dismissal with prejudice entered on July 13, 1988, in the Fifth Judicial District Court, in and for Washington County, State of Utah, the Honorable J. Philip Eves presiding. (See Record, Vol. II [hereinafter II], at 91-92.) Jurisdiction for appeal to the Utah Supreme Court was conferred pursuant to Rule 3(a), Rules of Utah Supreme Court. Appellants perfected their appeal with the district court on August 10, 1988. (II at 126-133) Thereafter, the Utah Supreme Court transmitted this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to its vested authority, over the signature of Geoffrey J. Butler. (II at 138)

This case was initiated by Respondents in December of 1985, seeking \$100,000 in liquidated damages, lost profits, costs, and attorney's fees solely alleging Appellants' breach of a cove-

nant not to compete. (See Record, Vol. I [hereinafter I], at 3.) Appellants answered, denying their breach, and requested attorney's fees in defending the suit pursuant to Section 78-27-56 of the Utah Code Annotated, or, alternatively, "as provided in the parties' contract." (I at 24) Trial was set for June 22 and 23 of 1988. (II at 26) **Less than one month prior to trial**, Respondents filed a motion, absent any supportive memorandum or rule of civil procedure, requesting the district court to dismiss their complaint solely because Respondents were then "unable to further prosecute the suit." (II at 35) This motion was initially heard on June 7, 1988. At that time, Respondents indicated that they might be agreeable to a dismissal with prejudice. (Reporter's Transcript, June 7, 1988 [hereinafter T1], at 4.) Respondents, however, resisted Appellants' responsive contention that in the event of dismissal, Appellants were entitled, as prevailing parties, to present evidence of their attorney's fees. Barring that, Appellants resisted dismissal of the claim. (Id. at 6; see also, II at 40.)

Despite Appellants' counsel's indications to the district court that, after 30 months of litigation, he was prepared to go forward with evidence as to Appellants' attorney's fees, subject to cross examination, the lower court denied Appellants this opportunity. (See Reporter's Transcript, June 20, 1988 [hereafter T2], at 8-9.) The lower court's rationale was as follows:

Having reviewed the memoranda filed by the counsel, the motion to dismiss is granted.

The trial date which was this Wednesday is vacated.

The motion for attorney's fees is denied. The reason being that it is apparent from the pleadings in the file that the reason the Plaintiffs have sought to dismiss the case is not because they feel they have not prevailed or could not prevail, but because they were under extreme financial pressures which prevent them from going forward.

Under those circumstances, I find that neither party has prevailed, and neither party is entitled to attorney's fees under the contract. (Id. at 9)

From the above ruling, Appellants, who believe they prevailed as a matter of law and contract right, have brought this appeal. An examination of the record reveals that the judge's usage of the plural "memoranda" was incorrect; on June 20, 1988, only Appellants had filed a memorandum with the court. (II at 53)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Are Appellants (Defendants in the district court) prevailing parties where Respondents' case against them was dismissed with prejudice less than two days prior to trial?

2. Are Appellants entitled to a hearing to set attorney's fees as successful parties within the parameters of the parties' contractual agreement both for their counsel's work before the district court as well as on appeal?

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES

Citations to constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, and rules, wherever appropriate, will occur in the text

of the brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1976, Glen Crawford acquired a franchise from Toyota of America and operated in St. George under the name of Crawford Toyota for approximately nine years. (Deposition of Glen Crawford, November 17, 1986 [hereinafter GCI] at 27) On or about October of 1984, Respondents Cobabe and Canfield approached Crawford in reference to purchasing Crawford Toyota. (Deposition of Lewis R. Canfield, November 18, 1986 [hereinafter LCI] at 40-41) Canfield had extensive expertise with automobile franchises and dealerships. (Id. at 1-41) Thereafter, Respondents Cobabe and Canfield retained Attorney John Palmer to negotiate the purchase of Crawford Toyota from Mr. Crawford. (Id. at 49-50) Subsequent thereto, on January 24, 1985, an Agreement of Purchase and Sale of Assets was executed between Mr. Crawford, his wife Paula Crawford, and Crawford Investment Company and Respondents. A copy of the contract is attached hereto as Appendix 1, and was the contract pled by Respondents in the case below. (See I at 1-11.) Subsequently, an addendum was signed, but the material provisions of the original agreement incident to this appeal were not modified thereby. (See GCI, Depo. Ex. 3.)

As part of the sales contract with Respondents, Appellants agreed "not to compete with a new car franchise within a 30 mile radius of currant [sic] dealership for a period of two (2) years from date of closing." (See Appendix 1, ¶ 2.) While perhaps immaterial at this juncture, this Court should understand that, as

referenced in the contractual agreement, the word "franchise" does not refer to the franchise being sold but rather the means by which Appellants were barred from competing in the St. George area. (See LCI at 85-86.)

Several months after the sale, Crawford and other individuals not named in the complaint predictably obtained a used motor vehicle dealer's license under the name and sign of Desert Auto Sales. All the parties understood that Crawford contemplated this transition at the time of the sale of his franchise with Toyota. (See e.g. LCI at 60, 70.)

At all applicable times herein, Section 41-3-7 of the Utah Code defined a used motor vehicle dealer as "a person engaged in the business of selling or exchanging used motor vehicles." Thereafter, Crawford, as a principal and salesman for Desert Auto Sales, sold used vehicles as allowed by Utah law. Significantly, in Utah at all applicable times herein, a used motor vehicle dealer could sell current model vehicles provided they were sold and licensed as used cars. (See Affidavit of John R. McKnight, I at 198-99; see also Utah Code Ann. § 41-3-7.)

Appellants believe that the record on appeal demonstrates that Respondents' case was ill-conceived and meritless. As stated by Respondent Cobabe, the contractual clause did not prevent Crawford from going into the used car business or doing anything that a used car dealer could otherwise legally do, including selling current model cars in St. George. (See Deposition of H. LeRoy Cobabe, January 26, 1986 [hereinafter HLC], at 30-31, 33,

36.) This is all Crawford did. Significantly, Crawford never acquired a franchise from a manufacturer defined by § 41-3-7(12) of the Utah Code as "a contract or agreement between a motor vehicle dealer and a manufacturer of new motor vehicles or its distributor or factory branch by which the dealer is authorized to sell any specified make or makes of new motor vehicles." (See also the definition of "new motor vehicle dealer" § 41-3-7(17) Utah Code Ann.)

On November 20, 1985, Respondents' counsel sent a demand letter to Appellant Glen Crawford alleging Crawford's breach of the prior non-competition clause and requesting that Crawford execute a new expansive, two-page non-competition clause, comply with it in detail, and pay Respondents the sum of \$30,000 in cash. (See LCI, Depo. Ex. A.) Crawford refused Respondents' unilateral demands, and less than two weeks later, on December 3, 1985, Respondents filed their complaint. (I at 1)

Significant to this appeal, Respondents' complaint attached the January 24, 1985, agreement, alleged Appellants' renewed oral promise not to violate the same in September of 1985, and requested \$100,000 in liquidated damages, additional lost profits, together with all costs and attorney's fees incurred in bringing the action. (See I at 2-3, ¶¶ 4, 8, 11, 12, and 13.)

Paragraph 23 of the parties' contract states their negotiated agreement pertaining to attorney's fees as follows:

In the event of any litigation between the parties hereto to enforce any provision or rights hereunder, the unsuccessful party to such litigation shall pay to the successful

party therein all costs and expences [sic] expressly including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs incurred herein by such successful party, which costs, expenses and attorney's fees and court costs incurred by such party or in connection with such litigation.

There is only one cause of action pled in Respondents' complaint and only one contract which Respondents alleged gave rise to their damages. Paragraph 31 of that contract requires any modification thereof to be in writing executed by the parties thereto, of which there were five signatories. (Appendix 1)

Appellants' answer denied any breach and specifically set forth Appellants' entitlement to attorney's fees as follows:

As a further and separate affirmative defense, these Defendants allege that Plaintiffs' cause of action is without merit and is not brought or asserted in good faith, and, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-27-56, these Defendants are entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee for defense of each cause of action against it listed in Plaintiffs' complaint, or as provided in the parties' contract.

WHEREAS, these Defendants pray that the Plaintiffs' complaint be dismissed as against these Defendants, and that these Defendants receive their costs incurred herein and for attorney's fees, and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. (I at 24.)

Respondents pursued their suit with vigor. Respondents noticed up five separate depositions comprising over 332 pages of transcribed testimony. Appellants noticed up three depositions comprising 199 pages of transcribed testimony. Respondents submitted three sets of interrogatories and two sets of requests for production of documents to Appellants. (See e.g., I at 135-

141.) Appellants contented themselves with one set of interrogatories, one request for production of documents, and one series of requests for admissions. (Note: Appellants' only request for production of documents, entitled "Second Request," was a misnomer. [I at 116].)

Appellants' depositions taken of Respondents clearly indicate that Crawford could maintain a used car franchise and sell current-model cars in St. George without violating the non-competition clause as drafted between the parties. (See e.g., HLC at 30-31, 33, 36.) Indeed, at the deposition of Dr. Cobabe, it became clear that Appellant Crawford had not broken the agreement as written, but that Respondents simply desired that the previous agreement, now unsatisfactory to them, be expanded. In calling Dr. Cobabe's attention to paragraph four of his complaint and the proposed Addendum to Agreement of Purchase and Sale, attached as Exhibit "A" (3 pp.) to the November 18th deposition of Lewis Canfield, Dr. Cobabe conceded that paragraph four of the complaint does not even correctly state the agreement as executed among the parties, but, rather, pleads the contractual provision as Dr. Cobabe "**wished**" it had been written! (See HLC at 38-41.)

Appellants, attempting to cut through the chaff of this litigation, moved for summary judgment and attorney's fees in December of 1987, together with supporting affidavits. (I at 196-233) Respondents opposed the motion, filing a lengthy memorandum and affidavit contending, contrary to the written contract and Utah law as articulated in Coombs v. Ouzounian, 24 Utah 2d 39, 465 P.2d

356 (1970), that two signatories to the written contract had somehow orally modified it. (II at 7-24) Despite the plethora of testimony and other evidence to the contrary, the lower court denied Appellants' motion and set the matter for trial on June 22 and 23 of 1988, at 9:30 a.m.

Compromise Negotiations

Compromise negotiations are, by their nature, normally inadmissible in evidence as a matter of public policy. (Rule 408, Utah Rules of Evidence) Respondents, however, openly set forth before the lower court their prior offer of dismissal; and Appellants' reply, which took the form of a letter drafted by Appellants' counsel dated May 18, 1988, was later attached to Respondents' counsel's affidavit. (II at 37-40) In reference to Respondents' offer to dismiss the case, Appellants' position was abundantly clear:

At the present time, we are considering your offer, but feel that Mr. Crawford's attorney's fee should be partially compensated by the Plaintiffs.

As a result thereof, I would make the following counteroffer to you: First, that the matter be dismissed with prejudice on both sides, so that no further discovery time, attorney's fees, or costs need be incurred on behalf of Mr. Crawford. In addition thereto, Mr. Crawford would receive \$1,000.00 a month from Mr. Cobabe, for a period of twelve months, to offset his attorney's fees. In exchange therefor, the matter would be dismissed with prejudice on the merits. (II at 40)

The Respondents' Motion to Dismiss
and Supportive Affidavit

After receiving Appellants' refusal to dismiss without an assessment of fees, Respondents' counsel filed a notice of withdrawal; and, **subsequent thereto**, Respondents' motion to dismiss. This motion does not state what rule Respondents relied on or whether such dismissal was sought with or without prejudice. (II at 33-40) The only affirmative statement is that Respondents requested dismissal because they were unable to further prosecute the suit. The entire text of their motion is as follows:

COMES NOW THE PLAINTIFFS IN THE ABOVE ACTION AND move to dismiss the complaint against the Defendants on the grounds that the Plaintiffs are unable to further prosecute the same. (II at 35)

Significantly, this motion was filed less than one month prior to trial. In their supportive affidavit, once again, Respondents failed to note whether they requested such dismissal with or without prejudice, but stated that despite Respondents' "belief in the merits of the suit, it . . . [was] not financially possible for Plaintiffs to continue the case." (See II at 37-38, especially ¶ 7.) Regrettably, Respondents should have been more cautious when they filed their ill-conceived suit 30 months before. Not unsurprisingly, Respondents provided Appellants only five days' notice on their motion set for June 7, 1988. (II at 41-42)

Respondents did not provide Appellants any authority in support of their motion until June 9, 1988, at which time, Respondents mailed a one-page memorandum to Appellants. (See II at 80-

81.) The original Respondents' "memorandum" was never deposited with the lower court, although copies of Respondents' cases were apparently placed in the file at II 43-52. Indeed, Respondents' "memorandum" appears in the file only because it is attached as an exhibit to a responsive Appellants' memorandum.

The Hearings

Because Appellants believe that the preamble to the order of dismissal with prejudice prepared by Respondents' counsel misrepresents what occurred in this case, Appellants requested and received all three transcripts pertaining to entry of the order of dismissal with prejudice found at II 91-92. The first hearing, on Tuesday, June 7, 1988, clearly indicates that, while Appellants' counsel did not object to the case being dismissed, he did expect an opportunity on the 22nd and 23rd of June to go forward on the basis of attorney's fees expended in defending the case. (See T1 at 2-3.) Respondents' counsel, without tendering any authority to Appellants, then cited a case entitled Mobile Power Enterprises v. Power Vac, infra, at p. 21, and indicated to the lower court that this abortive opinion was consistent with other cases in which Plaintiffs had sought dismissal with prejudice. (T1 at 3-4) This was the first time Appellants knew that Respondents sought a dismissal with prejudice. Respondents thereafter cited two cases and indicated to the lower court that they had been unable to uncover any cases of dismissal with prejudice on the Plaintiffs' motion where attorney's fees had been awarded. (Id. at 5) Thereafter, Respondents' counsel indicated that, despite Appel-

lants' reliance on a contractual provision for attorney's fees, they were not entitled to the same by reason of the fact that Plaintiffs were dismissing because financial resources were otherwise exhausted. (Id. at 6) Thereafter, Appellants' counsel indicated that barring an assessment of attorney's fees, Appellants would resist dismissal of Respondents' complaint.

The second hearing was held Monday, June 20, 1988, only two days prior to the scheduled trial. At that time, Appellants' counsel tendered a copy of a responsive memorandum to the lower court indicating that the original had been filed with the clerk; and, indeed, this representation was accurate. (See II at 53; cf. incorrect preamble II at 91-92.) Respondents argued that to obtain attorney's fees Appellants were required to file a counterclaim. By reason of this, Respondents argued, Appellants could not be deemed the prevailing party. This was somehow made clear, they added, by the personal bankruptcy of one of the Respondents. (See T2 at 2-3.) Appellants' counsel argued that whether a dismissal was with or without prejudice, Defendants (Appellants here) would be prevailing parties, and this was even more so when the dismissal was with prejudice. (See T2 at 5-7.) Appellants' counsel also noted to the lower court that Respondents should have addressed the expenses of litigation **before** filing, and that the record clearly reflected that "the majority of expenses incurred in this lawsuit was [sic] incurred on the motion or on the request under the discovery principles by the Plaintiffs, [t]hey drove up their own costs." (T2 at 7) Appellants' counsel also indicated he was

prepared to testify on attorney's fees, subject to cross-examination, two days later at the trial. (T2 at 8-9) That afternoon, the lower court, **outside the presence of counsel**, made the following ruling correctly reported in three terse paragraphs:

Having reviewed the memoranda filed by the counsel, the motion to dismiss is granted. The trial date which was this Wednesday is vacated.

The motion for attorney's fees is denied. The reason being that it is apparent from the pleadings in the file that the reason the Plaintiffs have sought to dismiss the case is not because they feel they have not prevailed or that they could not prevail, but because they were under extreme financial pressures which prevent them from going forward.

Under those circumstances, I find that neither party has prevailed, and neither party is entitled to attorney's fees under the contract. (T2 at 9)

Simply stated, even though Appellants obtained a dismissal with prejudice of Respondents' case against them, Appellants were unsuccessful because Respondents felt that, if they had the money to fund the suit, they **might** win. The West's keynote might read as follows: Plaintiffs' speculations cause loss to defendants. And, though Respondents could not expense the trial, Appellants' counsel is quite sure they will uncover the funds to defend the appeal. (II at 40)

Basically stated, the lower court found that after two and one-half years of extensive litigation, where Plaintiffs decided less than a month prior to trial that they did not want to go forward because they could not afford it, Defendants, having

obtained a dismissal of Plaintiffs' cause of action with prejudice, had, nonetheless, not prevailed.

Respondents' counsel, whose withdrawal had not yet been granted, prepared an order of dismissal with prejudice. (II at 91-92; T1 at 7) Appellants objected to the proposed order because the preamble thereto was nothing more than a self-serving statement. (See II at 75-79.) Indeed, the entire preamble does not recite one argument set forth by Appellants for an award of attorney's fees based upon the parties' contractual agreement. Appellants have even heard that Respondents may, in effect, argue on appeal that Appellants stipulated to the dismissal with prejudice without an award of fees. The executed order appealed from contains one finding of fact and two conclusions of law. They are as follows:

1. The parties are in agreement that the case should be dismissed with prejudice.

2. There is no reason the Court should not dismiss the case with prejudice.

3. Neither party has prevailed in this action, and neither party to this suit is "successful" within the meanings of the terms of the agreement entitling an award of attorney's fees. (See II at 92.)

The order of dismissal with prejudice found in the record at II, 91-93, was never mailed in its executed form by Respondents' counsel or the court to Appellants' counsel. (See II at 93.) As a result, on July 21, 1988, Appellants' counsel was, as yet, unaware that any order had been signed. (See Transcript July 21, 1988 [hereinafter T3] at 2-3.) Appellants' counsel at this hearing indicated that Respondents' counsel had earlier agreed to the entry

of an order proposed for the district court's signature found at II 85-86. (Id.) Appellants' counsel's major inquiry then pertained to the executed order's preamble's inferences that the district court did not consider Appellants' arguments, or that they had somehow been untimely submitted. The district court, to allay any problems this Court may have, responded as follows:

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