1988

H. LeRoy Cobabe, Lewis R. Canfield, and St.  
George Toyota, INC., v. B. Glen Crawford, Paula  
Crawford, and Crawford Investment Company, a  
Utah Limited Partnership : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Utah Code Annotated §78-27-56.5 and caselaw empower the trial court to exercise discretion to award or not award attorney's fees.

2. The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying to Defendants an award of attorney's fees. This result should be upheld by the Higher Court since the decision was appropriately made after evidence was presented before the Court that Defendants had

breached a covenant not to compete, Defendants had agreed that dismissal would be appropriate, one of the Plaintiffs had filed bankruptcy, the remaining Plaintiff was financially unable to continue in the lawsuit, and because Defendant's request was untimely.

3. The contract provision requiring defendant "not to compete with a new car franchise within a 30 mile radius of current dealership for a period of two (2) years from the date of closing" was drafted by Defendant. Defendant used the ambiguity of this provision to compete with Plaintiff by selling new cars in derogation to previous verbal and written agreements between the parties. The Defendant's conduct was clearly unconscionable and resulted in his receiving a windfall of \$100,000.00 since his conduct deteriorated the "goodwill" he had sold to the Plaintiffs. Defendants should not merit an award of attorney's fees under these set of facts.

4. Appellant should be estopped from claiming attorney's fees since their conduct and disregard of the parties' agreement renders the noncompetitive provision null and void.

5. If Appellant prevails in their appeal, attorney's fees should not be awarded since Appellants were not defending a result in their favor from the lower court.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I

U.C.A. §78-27-56.5 EMPOWERS THE TRIAL COURT WITH DISCRETION TO AWARD OR NOT AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES.

There are two basic approaches to allocating costs in a



lawsuit. The majority rule followed by most countries is known as the "English Rule" and awards attorney's fees to the prevailing party. The American legal system on the other hand utilizes the "American Rule" and requires each individual to pay his own attorney's fees in the absence of a statute or an enforceable contract providing otherwise. (1984 Utah Law Review 533.) The American rule had arisen as a result of our country's desire to insure that an individual have free access to the courts. ( Id. at 534.)

Utah has two types of fee shifting statutes: discretionary and nondiscretionary. Discretionary fee shifting statutes do not necessarily guarantee a recovery of fees, but rather give the trial court discretion to decide whether fees should be awarded. (1984 Utah Law Review, at 554.) The Trial Court's discretion, however, is not unlimited, there must be a sufficient evidentiary basis in the record to support the trial court's decision to award fees. Mason v. Mason, 160 P.2d 730 (Utah 1945).

Nondiscretionary awards of attorney's fees are provided in all suits brought against state officers or where violation of Fourth Amendment rights is alleged. In any event these statutes provide that the prevailing party "shall" be awarded attorney's fees. (1984 Utah Law Review 556.) Contrary to the nondiscretionary statute where attorney's fees are mandatory, discretionary statutes vest discretion in the trial court to determine if fees are justified. The obvious distinguishing characteristic between the two statutes is the use of the word may in the discretionary statute as opposed

to the use of the word shall in the nondiscretionary one. The Utah Legislature is clearly aware of this distinction and strictly abides by the distinguishing language.

The 1981 version of U.C.A. Section 78-27-56 is entitled: Attorney's Fees-Award Where Action or Defense in Bad Faith. That section provided that the court "may award reasonable attorney's fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit". The amendment of this statute in 1988 changed the statute from a discretionary one to a nondiscretionary statute by inserting the word shall for the word may. Interestingly, the statute now provides for an exception to the mandate of awarding reasonable attorney's fees which is provided under subsection (2). The statute reads as follows:

(1) In civil actions, the court shall award reasonable attorney's fees to a prevailing party if the court determines that the action or defense to the action was without merit and not brought or asserted in good faith, except under subsection (2).

(2) The Court, in its discretion, may award no fees or limited fees against a party under subsection (1), but only if the court: (a) finds the party has filed an Affidavit of Impecuniosity in the action before the court; or (b) the Court enters in the record the reason for not awarding fees under the provisions of subsection (1).

Here we have an interesting approach by the Legislature which has made an award of attorney's fees mandatory and yet has provided for an equitable exception to that rule (giving the Court discretion) in the event the party against whom the attorney's fees would ordinarily be awarded is in a state of impecuniosity. Moreover, the court may upon appropriate basis not award attorney's

fees at all under subsection (b).

U.C.A. Section 78-27-56.5 entitled Attorney's Fees-Reciprocal Rights to Recover Attorney's Fees is clearly discretionary. It provides the following language:

A court may award costs and attorney's fees to either party who prevails in a civil action based upon any promissory note, written contract, or any writing executed after April 28, 1986, when the provisions of the promissory note, written contract, or other writing allow at least one party to recover attorney's fees.

This provision of the Code basically codifies what has been held by case law in Utah for some time. It would be fascinating indeed if the proposition of Appellants were correct that Trial Courts must award attorney's fees to a prevailing party. This is particularly true because trial courts have now been given discretion in cases involving actions or defenses in bad faith, to withhold the award of attorney's fees in cases where there is good cause to do so, such as one of the parties being impoverished. Surely parties who bring causes of action in bad faith have not been given a preferred status. The trial court has the discretion under Section 78-27-56.5 to award or refuse to award attorney's fees especially where the facts and circumstances dictate that no award should be made.

The nature of our Utah discretionary statute makes it difficult to compare caselaw with other jurisdictions. For example, Washington and Oregon each have non-discretionary statutes.

Oregon Revised Statute 20.096(1) provides:

In any action or suit on a contract, where such contract specifically provides that attorney fees and costs

incurred to enforce the provisions of the contract shall be awarded to one of the parties, the prevailing party, whether that party is the party specified in the contract or not, at trial or on appeal, shall be entitled to reasonable attorney fees in addition to costs and necessary disbursements.

With regard to contract actions the Revised Code of Washington Annotated 4.84.330 provides:

In any action on a contract or lease entered into after September 21, 1977, where such contract or lease specifically provides that attorney's fees and costs, which are incurred to enforce the provisions of such contract or lease, shall be awarded to one of the parties, the prevailing party, whether he is the party specified in the contract or lease or not, shall be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees in addition to costs and necessary disbursements.

This court should not base its decision on the laws of Washington and Oregon and Appellant's reliance on the laws of those states is misplaced.

Appellants cite case after case, both in Utah and in other jurisdictions where trial courts have been upheld in their determination of the prevailing party and award of attorney's fees. It is interesting in light of that weight of authority that Appellant attempts in its brief to characterize the Utah law as mandating that the trial court award attorney's fees without acknowledging the discretion that lies in the trial court to determine these matters. The clear position of the Utah courts is that an award of attorney's fees is in the sole discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned in absence of showing clear abuse of that discretion. Sears v Riemersma, 655 P.2d, 1105, 1110 (Utah 1982). Beckstrom v. Beckstrom, 578 P.2d 520, 524 (Utah 1978).

20 AM Jur 2d 59, §73.

## ARGUMENT

### II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO DEFENDANT AND SHOULD BE UPHELD BY THE COURT OF APPEALS.

Appellant has argued extensively in his brief that Appellant should have been determined to have been the "prevailing" party since Plaintiff dismissed with prejudice. Further, Appellant maintains that based upon the prevailing status he should have obtained, the Trial Court would have been obligated as a matter of law to award attorney's fees to Defendant.

However Appellant's position is not the law in Utah as will be seen in argument hereafter. A finding by the court that one party has prevailed does not rob the court of its discretion with regard to an award of attorney's fees.

In the Supreme Court case of Jenkins v. Bailey, 676 P.2d 391 (Utah 1984) the Earnest Money Receipts and Offer to Purchase contained the provision that all expenses of enforcing the agreement or of any action arising out of breach thereof would include a reasonable attorney's fees. The court's award of attorney's fees to Zion and Limbacher on a counterclaim against Bailey was obviously predicated on the provision in the Agreement for Fees. However, Bailey's attorney had testified as to the reasonable value of his services but the trial court did not award him any amount of attorney's fees nor offer any explanation for his failure to do so. Since Bailey's action was based on a cause of action for breach of

the agreement and Zion-Limbacher's cause of action was based on conversion, the court determined that the disparity could only be seen as error. Jenkins, at 392.

The case at bar is easily distinguished from the Jenkins case since no obvious error was apparent on the part of the trial court in its denial of attorney's fees to Defendant. It properly considered the evidence it had viewed of Defendant's breach of the covenant not to compete, the claim of Defendant that it was proper for him to sell new cars, the financial distress of Plaintiffs after 30 months of litigation, and Defendant's failure to timely request attorney's fees.

However, the Supreme Court in Jenkins then cited Fireman's Insurance Co. vs. Brown, Utah, 529 P.2d 419 (1974) which had upheld the trial court's refusal to award any attorney's fees in a contract case since the buyer had been in default for twenty months and the seller had refused to convey the property on proper tender by the buyer. The court made an interesting point and stated: "If the trial court believed the dispute between Bailey, Zion and Limbacher to be comparable to the Fireman's Insurance case, then the court should not have awarded attorney's fees to either party." That statement by the court clearly indicates its support for the proposition that the trial court has the clear discretion to refuse an award of attorney's fees to either party in an action where the circumstances warrant such an approach. Furthermore, both the Brown case and the Bailey case seem to indicate that the trial court may consider equitable factors in refusing to award attorney's fees.

This would be consistent with the fact that courts in our modern judicial system are not merely courts of law but courts of equity and can administer equitable remedies in addition to those that are legal.

In the case of Wainwright Securities Inc. vs. Wallstreet Transcript Co., 80 FRD 103 (S.D.N.Y.1978), the Federal District Court determined that the defendant was a prevailing party entitled to recover costs because the Plaintiff had sought and obtained a dismissal with prejudice. The court determined that this result had the effect of a final adjudication on the merits favorable to defendant. Although defendant was considered the prevailing party, attorney's fees in this case were denied. As stated by the Wainwright court: "An award of attorney's fees under §116, Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C., §101 through 810 is not mandatory but is matter for the court's discretion".

A case in which the trial court's discretion was very broadly acknowledged by the Utah Supreme Court was that of Lake Creek Irrigation Co. v. Don Clyde, 451 P.2d 375 (Utah 1969). In this case the plaintiff was granted his motion to dismiss without prejudice. There was no statute or contract involved that would serve as the basis for an award of attorney's fees. What the court did in that case was to condition the granting of plaintiff's motion to dismiss on his payment of \$250.00 as attorney's fees. The court stated that "we cannot see any abusive discretion on the part of the trial judge in assessing attorney's fees as a condition to the granting of a motion as made by the plaintiff". ( Ibid p. 378.) That is a very

unique set of facts and circumstances with a very unique result. Probably the only one of its kind. Nonetheless the discretion of the trial court was upheld because of the basic rule of law that an award of attorney's fees is within the discretion of the trial court. Our case likewise is very unique in that the lower court decided or determined as a matter of law that there was no successful or prevailing party in the lawsuit consistent with the provisions of the contract and that an award of attorney's fees under the circumstances would not be appropriate. Just as in the cases previously cited, the trial court's discretion which is based upon proper evidence should be upheld.

#### ARGUMENT

#### III

DEFENDANT'S CONDUCT OF SELLING NEW CARS WAS IN DEROGATION TO PREVIOUS VERBAL AND WRITTEN AGREEMENTS AND WAS CLEARLY UNCONSCIONABLE SINCE IT RESULTED IN DETERIORATION OF "GOODWILL" SOLD TO PLAINTIFF AND CREATED WINDFALL TO DEFENDANT OF \$100,000.00 AND SHOULD APPROPRIATELY BE THE BASIS FOR A DENIAL OF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

A case where the Supreme Court has upheld a trial court's denial of attorney's fees upon equitable considerations is the case of Fullmer v. Blood, 546 P.2d 606 (Utah 1976). In that case the assignee of a vendor's interest in a real estate sales contract brought an action against assignees of the purchasers to quiet title to the real property covered by the contract and declare forfeiture of sums paid thereunder.( Ibid at 607.) The Uniform Real Estate Contract had a provision in it for awarding attorney's fees "in case of default the defaulting party shall pay costs and expenses,



including a reasonable attorney's fee incurred in enforcing the agreement, or in pursuing any remedy with respect to the property." ( Ibid at 610.) The court in analyzing the case indicated that due to the complicated nature of the case that both parties thought that they had some justification for making their respective claims in the property. ( Ibid.) Then the court made a very interesting statement:

A suit of this nature involving the invocation of a forfeiture and/or the enforcement of a purchase contract invokes consideration of the principles of equity which address itself to the conscience and discretion of the trial court. ( Ibid.)

The court in looking at the Blood case noted that plaintiffs had received \$12,150.00 which was forfeited and not recoverable to the Defendant. The Court then stated that "in view of these circumstances we are not persuaded that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to require defendant to pay the plaintiff's attorney's fees". What the court was saying basically is that the plaintiff had already been benefited or aggrandized by the forfeiture. Therefore, the court was remiss to permit the plaintiff further recovery by awarding it attorney's fees.

Our case is very similar to that one in that Mr. Crawford had already received 200,000.00 for goodwill in the enterprise which he sold. His conduct which deteriorated the goodwill which he sold to plaintiffs resulted in a windfall to him. Such conduct should shock the conscience of the higher court and should not be further rewarded by an award of attorney's fees in this action.

Defendants-Appellants accepted the provision in the contract

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